
Agenda 

Town of Duck Council 

Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall 

February 4, 2026 

1:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting 

__________ 

 

1. Call to Order 

   

A. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

  B. Moment of Silence 

 

2. Closed Session 

 

3. Public Comments 

 

4. Consent Agenda 

 
A. Minutes from the January 7, 2026, Regular Meeting 

 

B. Minutes from the January 21, 2026, Mid-Month Meeting 

 

5. Special Presentations 

 

A. Employee Recognition Program 

    

B. Recognition of Police Detective John Gilreath on Receiving the Fourth 

Quarter Town of Duck SOAR Award 

 

C. Presentation from the First Flight Track Club to Provide Updates from the 

2025 Duck Turkey Trot 

 

6. Quasi-Judicial Public Hearings 

 

A. None at This Time 

 

7. Legislative Public Hearings 

 

A. Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 26-01, Amending 

Chapter 91, Certain Conditions Declared Nuisances, to Include Improper 

Discharge of Water or Other Liquids onto Adjoining Properties 

 

B. Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 26-02, Amending 

the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, to Add Subsection 156.141, 

Discharge of Stormwater, Pool Water, Hot Tub Water and Dewatering 

Effluent 

 

C. Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 26-03, Amending 

the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, Subsection 156.051, Building 

Features Exempt from Setbacks or Minimum Yard Requirements to Allow 

for Outdoor Showers in the Rear Setback 



February 4, 2026         Regular Meeting (continued) 

____________________ 

 

D. Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 26-04, Amending 

the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, Subsection 156.002, 

Definitions and Specifically to Correct and Clarify the Definition of Lot 

Coverage  

 

8. Old Business/Items Deferred from Previous Meetings 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of Appointing an Individual to Serve on the 

Board of Adjustment 

 

9. New Business 

 

A. None at This Time  

 

10. Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Attorney 

 

11. Items Referred to and Presentations from the Town Manager 

 

A. Departmental Updates 

 

B. December FY 2026 Financial Presentation 

     

12. Mayor’s Agenda 

 

13. Council Member’s Agenda 

 

14.       Other Business 

 

A. Additional Public Comments 

 

15. Closed Session 

 

16. Adjournment – The Next Meeting will be the Annual Retreat on Tuesday and 

Wednesday, February 24 and 25, 2026 at 9:00 a.m. 

 



AGENDA: February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #2: 
 

Closed Session 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 
• Make the following motion:  

 

o To enter closed session in accordance with Section 143-

318.11(a)(3) of the North Carolina General Statutes to consult with 

an attorney employed or retained by the public body in order to 

preserve the attorney-client privilege between the attorney and the 

public body, which privilege is hereby acknowledged. 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 
• Provided under separate cover. 



AGENDA:  February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 

 

ITEM #4: 
 

Consent Agenda 

 

A. Minutes from the January 7, 2026, Regular Meeting 

 

B. Minutes from the January 21, 2026, Mid-Month Meeting 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Approve the Consent Agenda 

 
(As a reminder, the Consent Agenda is intended to be voted on and approved as one motion.  If discussion is 

required on individual items, a motion must be made to remove that item from the Consent Agenda and add it to 

the Regular Agenda.)    

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 
The Consent Agenda includes the minutes from the January 7, 2026, Regular Meeting and the minutes from 

the January 21, 2026, Mid-Month Meeting.  Council is asked to approve the minutes. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• January 7, 2026 Minutes 

• January 21, 2026 Minutes 



 

 1 

TOWN OF DUCK 

TOWN COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 

January 7, 2026 

 

The Town Council for the Town of Duck convened at the Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall at 

1:00 p.m. on Wednesday, January 7, 2026. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Monica Thibodeau; Mayor Pro Tempore 

Sandy Whitman; Councilor Kevin Lingard; and Councilor Marc Murray. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: Councilor Brenda Chasen. 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: Town Manager Drew Havens; Development and Infrastructure 

Director/Assistant Town Manager Connor Winstead; Town Attorney Robert Hobbs; 

Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman; Fire Chief Matthew Dudek; Public Information and 

Events Director Kristiana Nickens; Finance Administrator Lauren Creech; Planning and 

Permits Manager Sandy Cross; and Town Clerk Lori Ackerman. 

 

OTHERS ABSENT:   None. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.  She noted that Councilor 

Brenda Chasen was excused from the meeting.   

 

Mayor Thibodeau asked Finance Administrator Lauren Creech to lead the Pledge of 

Allegiance.  Mayor Thibodeau led the moment of silence. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 

Mayor Thibodeau opened the floor for public comments.   She noted that comments will 

be limited to three minutes as there was a timer for the time limit.  There being no one 

wishing to speak, she closed the time for public comments.  

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Minutes from the December 3, 2025, Regular Meeting; Contract with HHLD, LLC, 

for $46,192 for Duck Trail Improvements to Demolish, Remove and Reconstruct the 

Existing Asphalt Trail between Wood Duck Drive and Pintail Drive with a New 

Concrete Trail; Resolution 26-02, a Resolution of the Town Council of the Town of 

Duck, North Carolina, Commemorating the 100th Anniversary of the American 

Shore & Beach Preservation Association; and Budget Amendment 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 



 

 2 

SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 

 

Employee Recognition Program 

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that in December 2011, Council adopted an employee service 

recognition program that would acknowledge the service of employees of the Town at 

five-year intervals by providing them with a certificate of recognition as well as a gift 

certificate to a Duck business of their choosing. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau, Town Manager Havens, and Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman went on 

to present Police Corporal Mitchell Ardinger with his 5-year service recognition 

certificate and $50 gift certificate.  

 

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 

 

There were no Quasi-judicial public hearings at this time. 

 

LEGISLATIVE PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

There were no Legislative public hearings at this time. 

 

OLD BUSINESS/ITEMS DEFERRED FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Appointing an Individual to Serve on the Board of 

Adjustment 

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that there was an opening on the Board of Adjustment for a term 

to expire on May 1, 2028 to fill the unexpired term of Tom Burton. She stated that staff 

advertised the opening and three applications were received from Jeannine Cotner, Frank 

Douglas, and Stephen Fowler.  She asked if Mr. Douglas and Mr. Fowler were present.  

 

Town Clerk Lori Ackerman was recognized to speak. Town Clerk Ackerman stated that 

Frank Douglas had indicated that he would be present for the meeting, but that Stephen 

Fowler would not.  

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that there were three applications, which the Council had looked 

over, adding that it was great that people wanted to serve on the Board of Adjustment. 

She asked Council if there was anything that wanted to discuss or if they wanted to 

nominate one of the individuals.  Town Clerk Ackerman noted that she had sent Council 

an email earlier in the day letting them know that Jeannine Cotner had withdrawn her 

application. 

 

Councilor Lingard stated that it was difficult because he did not know Frank Douglas or 

Stephen Fowler, adding that neither were present for the meeting. 

 



 

 3 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman asked Assistant Town Manager Connor Winstead if there 

was a quorum for the Board of Adjustment meeting that was being held on Monday, 

January 12, 2026.  Assistant Town Manager Winstead stated that there was.  Mayor Pro 

Tempore Whitman suggested that the appointment to the Board of Adjustment be tabled 

until Council’s February 4, 2026 meeting so Mr. Douglas and Mr. Fowler could be 

present for the meeting. Councilor Lingard agreed.  

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman moved to table the appointment to the Board of 

Adjustment until the February 4, 2026, meeting. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau clarified that the applications would be closed and Council would only 

be considering the two applications that were received.  Town Clerk Ackerman stated 

that Council could reopen the application period to see if more people applied.  Mayor 

Thibodeau thought it was fine not to reopen the period.  Councilor Lingard and Councilor 

Murray stated that they were fine with not reopening the period. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Resolution 26-01, a Resolution of the Town Council of 

the Town of Duck, North Carolina, Amending Resolution 18-05, a Policy Related to 

the Emergency Pumping of Floodwater 

 

Planning & Permits Manager Sandy Cross was recognized to speak.  Manager Cross 

explained that in September, 2018, Council adopted Resolution 18-05 which provided 

guidance for emergency pumping and established roles and responsibilities for pumping; 

specifically, it clarified that pumping was allowed onto private property provided that the 

pumping did not cause visible impacts to adjoining properties.  She stated that it further 

clarified that homeowner and property owner associations as well as private property 

owners can request a permit to pump to the Atlantic Ocean or the Currituck Sound from 

the North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality, Division of Water Resources, 

but the request must come through the Town. She added that the resolution defined 

floodwater and emergency conditions consistent with the Town’s Floodwater 

Management Discharge Plan which included specific water levels and a waiting period 

before pumping may be approved. 

 

Manager Cross stated that recent rain events and the depth of floodwaters and waiting 

periods seemed to be inconsistent with the purpose of Resolution 18-05 and the 

Floodwater Management Discharge Plan to “remove threats to public health and safety 

and provide relief from flooding impacts”.  She stated that amending Resolution 18-05 

with Resolution 26-01 make the revisions that have been recommended so that the Plan 

could be updated and approved by the Department of Environmental Quality, Division of 

Water Resources. 

 



 

 4 

Manager Cross stated that at their December 10, 2025 meeting, the Planning Board 

recommended approval of Resolution 26-01 as well as the revisions to the Floodwater 

Management Discharge Plan, adding that both the resolution and the plan were vetted 

through NCDWR with minor comments.  She added that they were presented to the 

Planning Board at their December 10, 2025 meeting with no further comments.  She 

noted that if Council adopted Resolution 26-01, staff will submit the resolution along 

with the revised discharge pumping plan to NCDWR for formal permit approval. 

 

Councilor Lingard asked what the rationale was between the 48 hours that was in the 

original resolution.  Manager Cross explained that there were guidelines with FEMA that 

specify storm events, adding that there was a reason behind it, but after reaching out to 

David May from the Division of Water Resources, he was very clear that the waiting 

period was not required and felt that pumping sooner was better than waiting in order to 

decrease the likelihood of bacteria in the area being pumped to the ocean or sound. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau thought when the Town did it originally, it was hoped that it would 

recede and one would see normal absorption with last resort pumping being done. She 

added that there was the practical aspects of letting the water sit, which was a long 45-

hours for people to wait. She stated that it was great that it was no longer a requirement. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau asked if the Town has pumps on hand and who was overseeing the 

pumping.  She noted that staff monitors it but wondered if the Fire Department was asked 

to do it.  Manager Cross explained that, logistically speaking, staff helps with the set up 

and in past situations, there has been a resident, homeowner association member or 

management company that has monitored it and recorded the data with staff reporting it 

back to the State. She noted that it may vary depending on the circumstances.  She stated 

that if there was a large hurricane situation, it would require more people to help, adding 

that the Town also has assistance from Dare County in that they have eight large pumps 

that they distribute out to communities with Duck being one. 

 

Town Manager Drew Havens was recognized to speak.  Town Manager Havens stated 

that with the storm event the Town experienced last year, staff was able to secure one of 

the pumps from Dare County.  He noted that staff went and picked it up, operated it, and 

monitored it, adding that it was Chief Ackerman, some of the firefighters that got the 

discharge hose set up, and he spent time with Chief Ackerman to help. He pointed out 

that it was staff intensive and that the Town has four small trash pumps that a homeowner 

could operate. He stated that the Town has an agreement with Georgetown Sands where 

they could pick a pump up and use their own discharge hose since they already know 

how to operate the pump.  He explained that the large pumps that Dare County has 

require Town staff to go pick them up, set them up and run them.  

 

Manager Cross stated that the State was very clear that the pumps were not to be used for 

everyday rain events.  She stated that language in the resolution was included that stated 

that even if the floodwaters have receded, it did not mean the Town was taking the 

equipment away, adding that language was left in that would allow the continuation of 

pumping if the floodwater came back. 



 

 5 

 

Councilor Lingard moved to adopt Resolution 26-01 as presented. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing a Public Hearing on Ordinance 26-01, 

Amending Chapter 91, Certain Conditions Declared Nuisances, to Include 

Improper Discharge of Water or Other Liquids onto Adjoining Properties and 

Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing a Public Hearing on Ordinance 26-02, an 

Ordinance Amending the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, to Add 

Subsection 156.141, Discharge of Stormwater, Pool Water, Hot Tub Water, and 

Dewatering Effluent 

 

Manager Cross explained that at Council’s Retreat in February 2025, Council had 

directed the Community Development staff to review and present to the Planning Board 

for consideration and discussion Chapter 91 regarding public nuisances.  She stated that 

Community Development staff often receive complaint calls in the spring and fall as well 

as following extreme rain events regarding the discharge of water onto adjacent 

properties and/or onto adjacent roadways.  She pointed out that this often exacerbates an 

already sensitive situation and the Town Code was silent with regard to these types of 

matters. 

 

Manager Cross stated that the matter was introduced during the August 13, 2025 

Planning Board meeting and discussed at three meetings. She noted that staff presented 

relevant ordinance examples from other North Carolina coastal communities and 

obtained insight from Police Chief Ackerman and Town Attorney Robert Hobbs.  She 

added that the Planning Board unanimously recommended approval of a revision to 

Chapter 91, General Nuisances, to add language specific to the improper discharge of 

water or other liquid onto adjoining or nearby property.  She stated that the Board also 

recommended the addition of Zoning Subsection 156.141 to address General Nuisances 

from a land use development perspective with a reference back to Chapter 91 in the event 

of imminent effects to public safety, health, or welfare. 

 

Manager Cross stated that the Planning Board voted 5-0 to recommend approval of the 

proposed text amendments in Ordinance 26-01 and 26-02 at their meeting on November 

12, 2025, since both ordinances provide clarity for consistent application of the Town 

Code, was consistent with the intent of the Town’s Comprehensive & Land Use Plan as 

well as the Town’s 2032 Vision.  She noted that Ordinance 26-01 was a legislative 

amendment and a public hearing was not required; however, since Ordinance 26-02 was a 

similar and associated zoning text amendment and was being recommended by the 

Planning Board, Council may wish to consider both items simultaneously and conduct a 

public hearing. 

 

Manager Cross stated that at their November 12, 2025, meeting, The Planning Board 

voted unanimously to recommend approval of Ordinance 26-02, which includes a 



 

 6 

reference back to Chapter 91 in the event of imminent effects to public safety, health, or 

welfare. 

 

Councilor Lingard asked if Ordinance 26-01 would do anything to address water running 

onto an adjacent property. Manager Cross stated that it would not, adding that it would 

deal with actually discharging water. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that she was in favor of holding two public hearings for 

Ordinance 26-01 and 26-02. She thought staff would need to reach out to the pool 

companies.  Manager Cross agreed, adding that it could start with a new construction and 

be noted in the permit.  Mayor Thibodeau stated that it was not always easy to hold in the 

pool water on a property, adding that she spent a lot of time putting together a retention 

area for her pool water. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman moved to schedule the public hearing on Ordinance 26-01 

for February 4, 2026. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Councilor Lingard moved to schedule the public hearing on Ordinance 26-02 for 

February 4, 2026. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing a Public Hearing on Ordinance 26-03, an 

Ordinance Amending the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, Subsection 

156.051, Building Features Exempt from Setbacks or Minimum Yard Requirements 

to Allow for Outdoor Showers in the Rear Setback 

 

Manager Cross explained that at Council’s November 5, 2025 meeting, Council 

authorized the Community Development staff to work with the Planning Board to review 

Section 156.051 – Building Features Exempt from Setbacks or Minimum Yard 

Requirements: specifically, Council authorized staff and the Planning Board to consider a 

narrowly constructed Zoning Text Amendment to allow outdoor showers as exempt from 

minimum yard requirements. 

 

Manager Cross stated that the Planning Board made a recommendation to allow outdoor 

showers to encroach up to a maximum of three feet into the rear setback provided that the 

outdoor shower is attached to the principal structure, is not fully enclosed, includes 

functioning plumbing with a shower head, is no longer than eight feet in width 

contiguous with the principal structure and provided the rear setback is not less than 25 

feet. She noted that the Board voted unanimously to recommend approval of Ordinance 

26-03 at their December 10, 2025 meeting. She added that the draft ordinance presented 

to the Planning Board specifically stated that these changes were reasonable and 

consistent with the intent and recommendation of the Town’s adopted Comprehensive & 

Land Use Plan. 



 

 7 

 

Councilor Lingard thought it was a very small portion that houses would benefit from this 

exemption, adding that houses would have to be on the setback line and the setback 

would have to be 25 feet. He asked if that applied to a large number of properties.  

Manager Cross stated that she has not completed that evaluation but could do it if 

Council wished. She added that she wasn’t sure how many houses were built right to the 

rear setback. 

 

Councilor Murray explained that there were some subdivisions where the lots were wider 

than deep and that would be when this exemption would apply.  He added it would apply 

to the Sandy Ridge and some of the Snow Geese subdivisions. Manager Cross stated that 

the Poteskeet subdivision has some long lots that were not deep and may apply there.  

She noted that there were also some homes that were constructed right at the 25-foot rear 

setback and did not have an outdoor shower and they may come back to the Town saying 

that they wanted to construct one. 

 

Councilor Lingard moved to schedule the public hearing on Ordinance 26-03 for 

February 4, 2026. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Authorizing a Public Hearing on Ordinance 26-04, an 

Ordinance Amending the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, Subsection 

156.002, Definitions and Specifically to Correct and Clarify the Definition of Lot 

Coverage 

 

Manager Cross explained that after working with recent revisions to the definition of Lot 

Coverage, the Community Development staff identified two parts of the text that need to 

be amended for clarity purposes.  She pointed out that staff had previously discussed with 

the Planning Board an issue and clarification regarding alternative ground cover 

agreements as noted in the definition of Lot Coverage.  She noted that the Planning Board 

agreed it was their consensus that any alternative ground cover that was afforded reduced 

or no lot coverage consideration should be subject to documentation and recordation of a 

ground cover agreement stating that the installation was consistent with the 

manufacturer's specifications and that maintenance will be provided.  She added that this 

was not clearly stated in the current iteration of the definition of Lot Coverage.  She 

stated that the Town no longer counts pool water in lot coverage; however, the principal 

definition still includes “pools,” so it needed to be addressed for consistency. 

 

Manager Cross stated that at Council’s November 5, 2025 meeting, Council authorized 

the Planning Board to revisit this section of the Zoning Ordinance. She explained that the 

matter was introduced during the Planning Board’s November 12, 2025 meeting and the 

Board voted unanimously to recommend that revisions that included the removal of 

“pools” from lot coverage and clarification of the use of artificial turf requiring design 

specifications, a maintenance plan, and recordation of a ground cover agreement with the 

Dare County Register of Deeds. 



 

 8 

 

Manager Cross stated that the Planning Board voted 5-0 to recommend approval of the 

proposed Ordinance 26-04 at their November 12, 2025 meeting because the ordinance 

corrects an error and provides clarity applying the Town Code consistent with the intent 

of the Town’s Comprehensive & CAMA Land Use Plan as well as the 2032 Vision. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau asked if artificial turf was considered semi-pervious.  Manager Cross 

explained that the Town does not count artificial turf as coverage at all, but the 

specifications still have to be looked at because there was some turf that doesn’t have 

holes in it, adding that there was a permeability rating to it as well as a design standard 

where it should be under Gator Base which was a flat, permeable product that can 

withstand a load or it could be put over four to eight inches of rock, depending on the use. 

She stated that the whole purpose was so that it had storage capacity for stormwater. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau clarified that it was more of the recording process in perpetuity that it 

would be acknowledged that it was an allocation.  She further clarified that it would be 

fully pervious like a pervious driveway.  Manager Cross stated she was correct. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman moved to schedule the public hearing on Ordinance 26-04 

for February 4, 2026. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Discussion/Consideration of Chapter 110, Peddlers and Vendors 

 

Manager Cross explained that the Town had enacted Chapter 110 as part of its initial 

review and incorporation in 2003, adding that three amendments to the chapter had been 

made since then.  She noted that the most notable revision occurred in 2012 when 

Peddlers and Itinerant Merchants were prohibited in Town entirely with some exceptions.  

She stated that some of the reasoning behind the prohibition had to do with feuding ice 

cream trucks and brick-and-mortar business owners opposing mobile businesses 

competing with them without the monetary commitment associated with a brick-and-

mortar location. 

 

Manager Cross stated that as of 2025, staff was now seeing little campers as desirable 

additions to some of the local brick-and-mortar establishments. She added that the Town 

has on a number of occasions sought out mobile vendors for the 4th of July parade and the 

Jazz Festival.  She noted that while Council may not want to open the door entirely to 

peddlers and vendors, it may be worth reviewing the current standards for consistency 

with the Town’s Comprehensive & CAMA Land Use Plan and 2032 Vision. She 

suggested it be discussed at the annual Retreat or referring it to the Planning Board for 

discussion. 

 

Councilor Lingard thought Council needed to have a discussion on the issue. He 

proposed that it be discussed at the Retreat, adding that there will be arguments on both 

sides. He thought that before the Retreat, Council could get some input from the local 



 

 9 

businesses and the public to see what their thoughts were because he could see some 

instances where food trucks, especially in the summer season, could be useful to visitors 

when there was a wait at the restaurants.  He stated that in the shoulder season it may not 

be something that would be needed.  He reiterated that a discussion was needed and 

thought the Retreat was the proper place to have it, but getting input from local 

businesses and property owners would be useful before that.   

 

Mayor Thibodeau clarified that Councilor Lingard was suggesting that the Retreat would 

open the discussion with Council first in order to set a direction.  Councilor Lingard 

stated she was correct, adding that if Council felt it needed more input from the Planning 

Board, it could be referred to them then. He thought, as a Council, it should be discussed 

at the Retreat. 

 

Councilor Murray asked if addressing it at the Retreat would preclude it being sent to the 

Planning Board.  Mayor Thibodeau thought that flushing out the conversation so there 

was more direction for the Planning Board would be helpful. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman thought it should be sent to the Planning Board first and 

let them vet it and give it to Council at a future meeting. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that she liked the idea of having more of a discussion about the 

issue at the Retreat before sending it to the Planning Board because there were so many 

variables. She thought if it was sent to the Planning Board first, she wasn’t sure if they 

would know what to do with it.  Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman thought it could be vetted 

at the Retreat.   

 

Mayor Thibodeau asked Town Manager Havens if there would be time to discuss the 

issue at the Retreat. Town Manager Havens stated that there would be.  Mayor Thibodeau 

agreed that things change and there was a time where a craft fair used to come into Town 

that lined the street, which annoyed the merchants because they were taking away from 

their businesses and the vendors were not local.  She added that Town Council had 

discussed in the past holding a market on the Town green and, again, there was the worry 

that the Town was taking from the local businesses. She stated that it was a balance of 

what makes sense for the community, adding that maybe there could be an outreach to 

the business community to hear what they have to say. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau moved to allocate some discussion time at the Council Retreat to 

discuss peddlers and vendors. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

ITEMS REFERRED TO AND PRESENTATIONS FROM THE TOWN 

ATTORNEY 

 

Town Attorney Robert Hobbs was recognized to speak.  Town Attorney Hobbs stated he 

had no report. 



 

 10 

 

ITEMS REFERRED TO AND PRESENTATIONS FROM THE TOWN 

MANAGER 

 

Departmental Updates 

 

Police Chief Ackerman Jeffrey Ackerman was recognized to speak.  Police Chief 

Ackerman gave a brief overview of the past month’s police activities to Council and the 

audience. 

 

Public Information and Events Director Kristiana Nickens was recognized to speak. 

Director Nickens gave a brief overview of activities to Council and the audience. 

 

Fire Chief Matthew Dudek was recognized to speak. Fire Chief Dudek gave a brief 

overview of the past month’s fire activities to Council and the audience. 

 

Assistant Town Manager Winstead gave an overview of the past month’s permit 

activities to Council and the audience. 

 

November FY 2026 Financial Presentation 

 

Finance Administrator Lauren Creech was recognized to speak.  Administrator Creech 

gave a short presentation on the November Fiscal Year 2026 financials to Council and the 

audience.   

 

MAYOR’S AGENDA 

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that she attended her first mayor/chairmen meeting recently 

where there was a good conversation on beach nourishment as well as other issues that 

were affecting the other towns.  She stated that she represents Duck on the Dare Housing 

Foundation which stemmed from all the discussions on workforce housing opportunities, 

adding that they were in the process of becoming a 501(c)3 nonprofit.  She stated that she 

was looking forward to attending Essentials of Municipal Government with the rest of 

Council and Assistant Town Manager Winstead January 21-23, 2026 in Wilmington, 

North Carolina. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau reminded the audience that Council holds a Public Comment period at 

the beginning and ending of each Council meeting, adding that Council does not have 

discussions during their meetings, but people can say what they like during the Public 

Comment periods. She clarified that people could write in their comments for public 

hearings if they were unable to attend one.  Town Clerk Ackerman stated that she was 

correct and that written comments would be read into the record for a public hearing. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBER’S AGENDA 

 



 

 11 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman stated that he had given a presentation in December to the 

DCBA. He thanked the Planning Board for all of their work. He noted that beach planting 

would be happening on Friday, January 9, 2026 at 1:00 p.m. 

 

Councilor Lingard explained that with regard to public comment, the only time it was 

different was during a public hearing where people can comment at a public hearing.  He 

wished everyone a Happy New Year. 

 

Councilor Murray stated that he had received an email from the Albemarle Rural 

Planning Organization adding that he should have some information to share with 

Council and the audience at the February 4, 2026 meeting. 

 

OTHER BUSINESS 

 

Additional Public Comments 

 

Mayor Thibodeau opened the floor for public comments.    

 

Jennifer Casias of Vine and Board Gourmet Bites was recognized to speak.  Ms. Casias 

stated that she wanted to give her thoughts with regard to the vendors and peddlers issue.  

She thought it added a quaint kitschy vibe to the Town and also allows the brick-and-

mortar venues to provide more options without having to develop more of the land and 

adds a different level of efficient service for the tourists as well as keeping tourists in 

Duck because it allows more options to serve them.   

 

Ms. Casias stated that she was not advocating for outer, unaffiliated mobile vehicles 

coming into Town and taking away from the businesses at hand, but the businesses at 

hand that do have small, mobile vehicles could have them stationary on site as another 

option of service.  She thought there would be rules and guidelines to make things 

aesthetically pleasing with regard to peddlers and vendors.   

 

Mark Wishner of 109 Settlers Lane was recognized to speak.  Mr. Wishner stated that he 

had a problem with his lot in that he could not obtain a Certificate of Occupancy because 

he found out that he was in violation of the zoning requirements with one issue being his 

outdoor shower. He stated that he could not get a Certificate of Occupancy until he met 

with Town Manager Havens and after that he received one but was told that he would 

receive zoning violation notices, adding that he received them three times through 

certified mail, email, and regular mail. He stated that he was responsible for removing his 

outdoor shower as well as having a pool deck issue.  He pointed out that he was not sure 

how far his current outdoor shower was into the setback and wasn’t sure if three feet was 

enough, adding that he wasn’t sure if the 10% leeway would protect him if it was not 

within the three feet. 

 

Mr. Wishner stated that Town Manager Havens had told him that the 10% leeway would 

give him another 2.5 feet because of the 25-foot setback and he was 5.5 inches outside of 

the setback and because of that, the Town wanted him to remove the outdoor shower, 



 

 12 

which was very upsetting to him.  He noted that the most upsetting thing was that the 

closest house to his was through his back yard, was at the far end of the cul de sac of the 

Osprey Ridge subdivision, and no house could be built in the setback area.  He explained 

that the reason for that was that Peter Pinto has a house on the sound and his lot wraps 

around the cul de sac.  He stated that if one looked at his setback and went 25 feet, there 

was a large ravine that could not be built on, adding that if one looked at Mr. Pinto’s 

property, it went 15 feet to the cul de sac and on the far side of the cul de sac was a home 

that was nearest to him.  He felt that this was ridiculous and was form over substance and 

then he was hit with zoning violations because of this. He stated that he did not know that 

the zoning text amendment for the ordinance was being proposed, adding that he had 

emailed Town Manager Havens…   -The three-minute time ended at this point in his 

public comment. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau allowed Mark Wishner to continue for another minute, noting that Mr. 

Wishner would not receive any engagement from Town Council. 

 

Mark Wishner stated that there was another problem with his pool deck that was within 

the setback.  He pointed out that setbacks were so a home would not interfere with a 

neighbor’s and he could not interfere with his neighbors because there wasn’t anyone 

behind his house. He stated that he now has to deal with that issue, assuming that the new 

ordinance was intended to take care of his situation. He stated that he wished he had 

known it was happening because he received Notices of Violation with $500-$1000 per 

day fees unless he repaired the violations.  He stated that he would like someone to tell 

him that the ordinance will resolve his issue and he will not have to deal with the 

violations he received. 

 

There being no one else wishing to comment, Mayor Thibodeau closed the time for 

public comments. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that Council’s next meeting was scheduled for Wednesday, 

January 21, 2026 at 1:00 p.m.  She asked Council if they wished to change the time given 

that Council will be driving to Wilmington that afternoon.  She suggested that the 

meeting be changed to the morning.  Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman suggested it start at 

10:00 or 10:30 a.m.  Councilor Lingard and Councilor Murray stated they would be fine 

with changing it to 10:00 a.m.  It was consensus of Council to hold their Mid-Month 

meeting on Wednesday, January 21, 2026 at 10:00 a.m. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman moved to adjourn the meeting. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

The time was 2:36 p.m. 



 

 13 

    

____________________________ 

       Lori A. Ackerman, Town Clerk 

 

Approved: ______________________ 

 

_______________________________ 

Monica Thibodeau, Mayor 



1 

 TOWN OF DUCK 

TOWN COUNCIL 

MID-MONTH MEETING 

 January 21, 2026 

 

The Town Council for the Town of Duck convened at the Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall at 

10:00 a.m. on Wednesday, January 21, 2026. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Monica Thibodeau; Mayor Pro Tempore 

Sandy Whitman; Councilor Kevin Lingard; and Councilor Marc Murray. 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: Councilor Brenda Chasen. 

 

OTHERS PRESENT: Town Manager Drew Havens; Development and Infrastructure 

Director/Assistant Town Manager Connor Winstead; Deputy Police Chief Melissa Clark; 

Public Information and Events Director Kristiana Nickens; Finance Administrator Lauren 

Creech; and Deputy Town Clerk Christy Hanks. 

 

OTHERS ABSENT:  Town Attorney Robert Hobbs; Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman; Fire 

Chief Matthew Dudek; and Town Clerk Lori Ackerman. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau called the meeting to order at 10:01 a.m.  She noted that Councilor 

Brenda Chasen was excused from the meeting. 

 

GOALS PLANNING SESSION 

 

Town Manager Drew Havens was recognized to speak.  Town Manager Havens stated 

that this meeting was Council’s 2026/2027, looking into 2028 priority setting session, as 

well as starting on the Fiscal 2027 budget season.  He noted that this would be the first 

interaction that staff have with Council as they begin to think about preparing the annual 

budget. 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that Vision 2032 had six unifying principles in order to 

frame where Council currently was.   He stated that this meeting was primarily for staff 

to hear from Council what they want to accomplish in the coming year.  He stated that 

Council would be discussing goals, how they set them, and what they do with them. 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that Council would be discussing some next level goals as 

well as thinking about where they would fall under the six unifying principles.  He noted 

that each principle has goals assigned to it and hoped that Council was thinking about the 

goals they wanted to bring forward that would reflect not only the three-to-five-year 

goals, but what they wanted staff to focus on in the coming year.  He noted that it was 

important for staff to know that as the draft budget is prepared so that they are doing 

things that are responsive to what Council believes to be the most important with the 

understanding that staff could do just about anything Council wanted but they could not 

do everything because the Town is resource limited.  



2 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that the six unifying principles were as follows: 

 

1. Duck and Our Village 

2. Enhanced Movability 

3. Environmental Stewardship 

4. Active, Engaged Community 

5. Vibrant, Thriving Business Community 

6. Responsive and Responsible Leadership 

 

Town Manager Havens asked Council if they had any questions about the six unifying 

principles.  Mayor Thibodeau stated that it was nice to see how they have held up so long 

since the exercise started back in 2012.  Town Manager Havens stated that when the 

revisioning process was completed, Council changed some of the wording to make it 

clearer, but there wasn’t anyone that wanted a complete change. 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that each Council member would state and explain one 

idea for the six unifying principles and then move on to the next for three rounds.  After 

that, Council would be discussing things and then vote on what they thought were the 

most important. 

 

Councilor Lingard asked if Council could have a consensus on maintaining or growing 

the fund balance with little or no tax increase since it was an overarching principle of 

everything Council does so it would not need to be put on the list each year. He pointed 

out that it was something that all of Council agreed on and it was something that received 

a unanimous vote.  He thought that rather than putting it on the list, it could be an 

overarching principle and it would not need to be put on the list as a priority.  Mayor Pro 

Tempore Whitman thought it needed to go on the list so everyone in the community that 

was a voter was aware that Council was looking at it regardless if it was agreed on or not.  

He felt it needed to be on the list even if it was not counted as a vote. 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that Council could put it on the list and if it received no 

votes, it would still be on the list but may not rise to the highest. Councilor Lingard 

agreed, adding that he thought that all of Council felt obliged to at least vote for it and if 

not, to give it three points. He added that every year Council votes that it was important 

and he had no problem putting it on the list.  Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman reiterated that 

he thought it should be on the list so everyone knows that Council knows they were 

thinking about it.  Councilor Lingard stated that he didn’t want to have someone tell him 

that he didn’t vote for it at the next election.  Mayor Thibodeau understood what 

Councilor Lingard was saying, adding that she didn’t vote for it last year. She stated that 

it was nice to keep it on the list, noting that there was always something aspirational that 

Council tries to do. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau asked how input from Councilor Chasen would be received.  Town 

Manager Havens thought once the list was completed, he could send it to her. He thought 

that was what was done one of the years that Mayor Thibodeau was absent.  Mayor 



3 

Thibodeau stated that she wanted Councilor Chasen to participate.  Town Manager 

Havens stated that he would seek Councilor Chasen’s input. 

 

Councilor Murray stated that he wanted to start with advancing the shoreline work to 

protect the park and serve as an example, which he thought would go under 

Environmental Stewardship.  Town Manager Havens clarified that Councilor Murray 

wanted to keep the same item that was on the list from last year, adding that it did not 

have to be the same thing.  Councilor Murray stated that he understood, adding that if he 

was looking at it, he would advocate more heavily for it. He thought if the park was 

completed, things like that needed to continue in different areas of the Town. He felt that 

beach nourishment was nailed down on the ocean side but saw issues arising on the 

sound side and would like for Council to make that a priority to get ahead of it. He stated 

that he would like to see the Town fund efforts to get ahead of it so there weren’t pools 

and houses hanging in the sound due to erosion. Town Manager Havens clarified that 

Councilor Murray wanted to support efforts for soundside/shoreline stabilization and 

preservation.  Councilor Murray stated he was correct, noting that he wanted to add 

mitigate erosion and maintain or increase water quality. 

 

Councilor Lingard stated that he wanted to start with the west side Duck Trail and to start 

building it. He thought it has been discussed the last two years and from what he could 

tell, it has been designed, but now the Town needed to spend some money and start 

building it.  Town Manager Havens suggested that it go under Enhanced Movability.  

Councilor Lingard agreed.   

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that she wanted to start with aggressively pursue the Public 

Safety building. She thought it should go under Responsive and Responsible Leadership. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman stated that he wanted to start with advancing on the Herron 

property and figure out what will be done with it once the results were back from the 

consultants. Town Manager Havens thought it should go under Duck and Our Village and 

be worded as follows: Review and approve plans for the use of the Herron property.  

 

Councilor Murray asked if the stormwater management program that was listed in 2025 

was project-specific or if it was overarching.  Town Manager Havens stated that there 

were a lot of things under that umbrella. Councilor Murray stated that he wanted to add 

that and put it under Environmental Stewardship. Town Manager Havens thought it 

should be worded as follows: Pursue opportunities to plan and implement stormwater 

management improvements. 

 

Councilor Lingard stated that he wanted to add improvements to the playground 

equipment.  He thought there were grants available to help the Town with it, but the 

equipment was getting pretty old. He didn’t think it should be something that was very 

expensive and it does enhance the Town for the younger visitors.  He thought it should go 

under Duck and Our Village.  Town Manager Havens suggested it be worded as follows: 

Replace playground equipment. 

 



4 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that she was in favor of continuing outreach to businesses 

including all property owners in their thoughts and Council’s decision making.  She 

stated that all of the property owners in Duck have a stake in the business community. 

She thought it could read as follows: Encourage ongoing engagement with the business 

community and all property owners.  She noted that she was trying to say that Duck’s 

property owners were also business owners in a way because what was good for the 

business community was good for the homeowners.  Town Manager Havens suggested it 

be under Vibrant, Thriving Business Community and have it worded as follows: Increase 

engagement with the business community and all property owners. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman stated he wanted to maintain the Town’s infrastructure and 

have it under Responsive and Responsible Leadership.   

 

Councilor Murray stated that he was in favor of taking a comprehensive look at e-bikes 

and how they will interact with the Duck Trail and the Village Commercial District. He 

thought it should go under Enhanced Movability.  Councilor Lingard asked that since it 

was dependent on the State taking action, if there was some way to incorporate wording 

in Councilor Murray’s suggestion, which reflects the fact that Council wanted to put 

pressure on the local and state representatives to do something about it.  Councilor 

Murray explained that the reason he used the term “comprehensive” was because he 

didn’t think Council fully understood the problem and the way it relates to the Town’s 

village. He thought there were a lot of solutions outside of the State in policy rather than 

regulation, adding that this also related to the business community because the Town was 

working with its business community partners to get a sense of what was being rented. 

He thought that when the State makes regulations that deny the Town the ability to 

manage its own affairs, Council gets up in arms about it. He did not want to rely on them 

to solve what was a hyper local problem, adding that his focus was understanding the 

problem and seeing if Council could come up with a community-driven way.  He pointed 

out that he was not proposing that the Town make e-bike regulations necessary but was 

proposing that Council understand the problem and see if there were any community-

based solutions that do not necessarily involve regulation at this point. Assistant Town 

Manager Winstead suggested the following language: Comprehensively review the 

interaction with e-bikes on the Duck Trail.  Councilor Murray stated that he had a few 

ideas to help mitigate the problem in the absence of State intervention or regulation from 

the Town.  He noted that he wanted to understand very clearly and wanted all of Council 

aware of the differences in the products that were out there and how they interact with 

people on the ground, so Council could come to a consensus on the way to deal with it. 

 

Councilor Lingard believed that at Council’s Retreat that Planning & Permits Manager 

Sandy Cross would be bringing forward a discussion about the Town’s ordinances. He 

thought with regard to the last two Board of Adjustment hearings, if the Town’s 

ordinances were clearer and more specific, the two hearings would not have happened.  

He stated that he asked Town Manager Havens what it cost the Town for those hearings 

and that it cost the Town a considerable amount of money. He stated that he would like to 

have consultants brought in to review the ordinances. He thought it was also what 

Manager Cross would be pushing for at the Retreat, to bring a consultant in to review the 



5 

ordinances and see how they could be improved.  He pointed out that they were written 

over 20 years ago and experience since then has been that they may need to be looked at.  

Town Manager Havens asked if it should be put under Responsive and Responsible 

Leadership or Vibrant, Thriving Business Community. Councilor Lingard thought it 

should be put under Responsive and Responsible Leadership.  Town Manager Havens 

thought it should read as follows: Review and update zoning ordinances. Mayor Pro 

Tempore Whitman asked if definitions should be added in.  Town Manager Havens stated 

that it would be good to start with the definitions, adding that the Planning Board has 

started discussing them.  

 

Mayor Thibodeau stated that her last choice was to maintain the Town’s commitment to 

the Dare County Housing Foundation and the issue of workforce housing in the 

community.  She thought it would be under Responsive and Responsible Leadership.  

Town Manager suggested it read as follows: Maintain the commitment to the Dare 

Housing Foundation and work towards finding solutions to the workforce housing issue. 

 

Councilor Lingard stated that someone needed to mention maintaining and grow the fund 

balance, adding that no one had mentioned it.   

 

Mayor Thibodeau pointed out that nothing was listed under Active, Engaged Community.  

Assistant Town Manager Winstead stated that last year Council chose to share the history 

of the Town in that category.  

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman stated that his last choice was to explore creative solutions 

for code enforcement duties and continue enforcement of the SUPs.  Town Manager 

Havens clarified that Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman wanted to use the same one as last 

year.  Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman stated he was correct.   

 

Town Manager Havens stated that because Councilor Chasen was not present, there were 

three ideas that did not get put on the list.  He asked, between the four Council members, 

if there were three ideas that were missing that should be added.  Councilor Murray 

thought the fund balance should be one.  Town Manager Havens asked Council if they 

wanted it listed.  Mayor Thibodeau asked if it would be to maintain and grow the fund 

balance or just maintain the fund balance with little or no tax increase.  Mayor Pro 

Tempore Whitman thought it should be both.  Town Manager Havens asked if it should 

be the same language as last year. Mayor Thibodeau stated it should be maintain and 

grow the fund balance with little or no tax increase. 

 

Councilor Lingard stated that Councilor Chasen had brought up last year was to explore 

passenger ferry service options. He wasn’t sure where that was.  Mayor Pro Tempore 

Whitman stated that it has not moved in the last year and a half.  Mayor Thibodeau stated 

that she heard a lot regarding the soundside event site and the connectivity to Manteo 

more so as something that may happen. 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that two more items were needed, asking what was 

missing.  Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman stated he was in favor of exploring additional 



6 

restrooms and parking at the Town facilities and not the Town park.  Mayor Thibodeau 

clarified that Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman was in favor of restrooms at the park.  Mayor 

Pro Tempore Whitman stated that they could be at the park or somewhere on the park 

property as well as expanding the parking. He stated that he would also like to see the 

playground expanded. Town Manager Havens noted that it was listed last year under 

Duck and Our Village.  He asked Council if they wanted that on the list. It was 

consensus of Council to have it on the list. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau pointed out that traffic was not listed anywhere. She thought it was 

addressed last year as continue to address traffic issues and support construction of the 

Mid-Currituck Bridge.  She asked the rest of Council how they felt about that one. Mayor 

Pro Tempore Whitman noted that it did not receive any votes last year.  Councilor 

Murray thought the Town was completely free to continue submitting resolutions to the 

State in favor of building the bridge.  He wasn’t sure if Council wanted to take up priority 

space for it. He asked if there was a way the Town could spend funds on it. Town 

Manager Havens stated that there wasn’t.  Mayor Thibodeau added that no one voted for 

it last year but it was on the list.  Councilor Murray stated that he would like to continue 

thinking about it but he didn’t want to take up budget space.  Councilor Lingard did not 

think it needed to be added just for the sake of adding it.  Mayor Thibodeau pointed out 

that she didn’t want people to think that Council was not thinking about traffic issues.  

Councilor Murray agreed. Councilor Lingard thought it could work the opposite way in 

that if it was listed and no one voted for it, it could be worse than not putting it on the list.  

Town Manager Havens stated that if traffic was something Council wanted to continue to 

evaluate each year, it should be on the list.  He pointed out that Town staff has not 

invested a lot of time with traffic this year, but the police do continue to monitor and 

report on it. 

 

Councilor Lingard thought until someone comes up with a novel idea that will work, 

adding that the Town has completed surveys and ideas, and working on it for the sake of 

working on it was pointless. He added that if someone had a good idea to change things, 

then Council should pursue it, otherwise the Town was reinventing the wheel.  Mayor 

Thibodeau stated that Council and staff have looked at traffic over the years and tried to 

have studies and surveys completed and put money towards the analysis with traffic 

engineers. She added that a pedestrian traffic engineer would give a different report than 

an automobile traffic engineer and what was best practices. She stated that it was 

something that was important to the community at large, whether it be worried about 

getting an ambulance through Town or worried about getting someone to work, it was 

something the Town deals with based on the geography and constraints.  She did not 

want to dismiss it as something Council could not do anything about at this point.  She 

thought keeping alert to opportunities for improving things and the data collected from 

the police has been helpful, adding that Council can point out that half the people 

traveling through Duck keep going to Corolla.  She pointed out that it will get worse but 

it is not entirely the Town’s fault.  She thought it was something that involves the 

neighboring towns and is on their minds, adding that she didn’t want to take it off 

Council’s minds.  Town Manager Havens suggested that it be listed as Continue to 



7 

evaluate solutions for traffic issues.  Mayor Thibodeau suggested Monitor traffic and be 

open to helping.   

 

Councilor Murray stated that he was going to suggest keeping it on the list but also 

incorporate LSVs.  He knew the police department was working on registering them but 

he thought that and the e-bike item he suggested earlier would be good.  He pointed out 

that the LSVs were affecting traffic but they also may be part of the solution.  He added 

that if traffic was going to be kept on the list, he would like to add in LSVs.  Assistant 

Town Manager Winstead suggested the language be as follows: Continue to monitor 

traffic information and review the impact of LSVs.  Town Manager Havens stated that it 

would go under Enhanced Movability. 

 

Councilor Murray asked what would happen if another priority came up during the year.  

Mayor Thibodeau stated that Councilor Murray or any other Council member could state 

that they wanted to discuss it, adding that it does happen frequently with Council, 

whether it was under Council Member Agenda or an email to Town Manager Havens.  

Town Manager Havens explained that it should be free flowing but not, adding that once 

Council has this list of priorities, it was where Council was telling him and Town staff 

what they wanted time spent on.  He added that if something comes up mid-year, the 

question staff may ask is that it could be completed but what didn’t Council want to do 

because Town staff’s time was a finite resource and if it was something that required 

money, Council would need to decide how it should be budgeted. 

 

Town Manager Havens suggested that Council discuss the items they had chosen as 

priorities.  Council went on to vote on what priorities they felt were the most important. 

 

Town Manager Havens stated that the tally may change slightly because Councilor 

Chasen still needed to vote.  He noted that the Public Safety building received the most 

votes.  Assistant Town Manager Winstead stated that soundside stabilization was tied 

with the westside Duck Trail for second.  Town Manager Havens stated that he would get 

the rest of the information to Council once Councilor Chasen submits her votes. 

 

Town Manager Havens asked if there was anything that was surprising.  Mayor Pro 

Tempore Whitman asked with regard to the items that were voted on in 2025 if some 

time during the budget year Town Manager Havens could show what has been 

implemented and if any money was spent on it or not. Town Manager Havens explained 

that the report that Council had in their agenda packets contained the status of where all 

of the items were.  Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman asked if something could be provided 

to Council by the end of the year to see what was done and then review it for next year.  

Town Manager Havens explained that the Public Safety building was a carryover, the 

westside trail was also a carryover and was something that was proposed in the Fiscal 

2025-2026 budget but the Town was not able to fund it because Council needed to 

balance the budget and that was one of the items that fell off.  Mayor Pro Tempore 

Whitman clarified that staff was still looking for grants for the first phase of it. Town 

Manager Havens stated he was correct. 

 



8 

Councilor Lingard stated that the League of Municipalities was holding a workshop for 

small municipalities with regard to strategic planning in New Bern on February 17-18, 

2026. He stated that there needed to be at least three people to take part in it and thought 

it would be useful.  He stated that he would like to go and that Town Manager Havens 

was also going. He asked if another Council member was interested in attending. Mayor 

Thibodeau stated that she would be out of town. Councilor Murray and Mayor Pro 

Tempore Whitman stated that they were not available to attend.  Councilor Lingard 

thought Council could look at a future workshop since at least two Council members had 

to attend it. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau thanked Town Manager Havens for the exercise.   

 

Assistant Town Manager Winstead stated that Tom Burton had submitted his resignation 

from the Planning Board and staff was requesting authorization from Council to advertise 

filling the vacancy. He noted that the term would expire on May 1, 2028. 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman moved to allow staff to advertise the vacancy on the 

Planning Board and have it addressed at Council’s March 4, 2026 meeting. 

 

Councilor Murray asked that staff make it clear in the advertisement that applicants will 

need to attend the March 4, 2026 meeting.   

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

Mayor Thibodeau noted that the next meeting would be the Regular Meeting on 

Wednesday, February 4, 2026, at 1:00 p.m. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Mayor Pro Tempore Whitman moved to adjourn the meeting. 

 

Motion carried 4-0. 

 

The time was 11:13 a.m. 

 

       ____________________________ 

       Lori A. Ackerman, Town Clerk 

 

Approved: ______________________ 

 

_______________________________ 

Monica Thibodeau, Mayor 



AGENDA: February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #5A: 
 

 Special Presentations 

 

A.   Employee Service Recognition Program Recipient 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Present Town Manager Drew Havens with his 5-year service 

recognition certificate and $50 gift certificate 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

The Town has an Employee Service Recognition Program whereby employees are 

recognized for their employment with the Town at 5-year intervals.  As a part of the 

program, employees are recognized at a Council Meeting and receive a certificate and a 

gift certificate from a Duck business. Town Manager Drew Havens will be employed 

with the Town of Duck for 5 years as of February 15th and will be recognized. 

   

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• None 

 



AGENDA: February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #7A: 
 

Legislative Public Hearings 

 

A. Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 26-01, an 

Ordinance Amending Chapter 91, Certain Conditions Declared 

Nuisances, to Include Improper Discharge of Water or Other Liquids 

onto Adjoining Properties 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Conduct the Public Hearing 

• Discuss & Consider Approval of Ordinance 26-01 

 
 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

At its public meeting on November 12, 2025, the Duck Planning Board voted 5-0 to 

recommend approval of Ordinance 26-01 amending Chapter 91 General Nuisances to 

include the improper discharge of water or other liquids onto adjoining or nearby property 

and providing for mitigation of such actions.  

 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Letter of Transmittal to Town Council 

• Staff Report 

• Draft Ordinance 26-01 

















AGENDA: February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #7B: 
 

Legislative Public Hearings 

 

B. Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 26-02, an 

Ordinance Amending the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, to 

Add Subsection 156.141, Discharge of Stormwater, Pool Water, Hot 

Tub Water and Dewatering Effluent 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Conduct the Public Hearing 

• Discuss & Consider Approval of Ordinance 26-02 

 
 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

At its public meeting on November 12, 2025, the Duck Planning Board voted 5-0 to 

recommend approval of Ordinance 26-02 which proposes to add Subsection 156.141 

Discharge of Stormwater, Pool Water, Hot Tub Water, and Dewatering Effluent to the 

Zoning Ordinance. This section includes a reference back to Chapter 91 in the event of 

imminent effects to public safety, health or welfare.   

 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Letter of Transmittal to Town Council 

• Staff Report 

• Draft Ordinance 26-02 

















AGENDA: February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #7C: 
 

Legislative Public Hearings 

 

C. Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 26-03, an 

Ordinance Amending the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, 

Subsection 156.051 Building Features Exempt from Setbacks or 

Minimum Yard Requirements to Allow for Outdoor Showers in the 

Rear Setback 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Conduct the Public Hearing 

• Discuss & Consider Approval of Ordinance 26-03 

 
 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

At its public meeting on December 12, 2025, the Duck Planning Board voted 5-0 to 

recommend approval of Ordinance 26-03 which proposes to amend Subsection 156.051 

Building Features Exempt from Setbacks of Minimum Yard Requirements, adding an 

allowance for outdoor showers to encroach up to a maximum of 3 feet into the rear setback, 

provided the outdoor shower is attached to the principal structure, is not fully enclosed, 

includes functioning plumbing with a shower head, is no longer than 8 feet in width 

contiguous with the principal structure, and provided the rear setback is not less than 25 

feet. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Letter of Transmittal to Town Council 

• Staff Report 

• Draft Ordinance 26-03 



 

 

 

 

 

 

December 17, 2025 

 

 

RE:   Ordinance 26-03 

Text Amendment to Section 156.051 of the Town Zoning Ordinance 

 

 

Mayor Thibodeau and Duck Town Council Members: 

 

At its meeting in November 2025, the Duck Town Council authorized Community Development 

staff to work with the Planning Board to review Section 156.051, Building Features Exempt from 

Setbacks or Minimum Yard Requirements. Specifically, the Duck Town Council authorized staff 

and Planning Board to consider a narrowly constructed Zoning Text Amendment to allow outdoor 

showers as exempt from minimum yard requirements.   

 

The Duck Planning Board made a recommendation to allow outdoor showers to encroach up to a 

maximum of 3 feet into the rear setback, provided the outdoor shower is attached to the principal 

structure, is not fully enclosed, includes functioning plumbing with a shower head, is no longer 

than 8 feet in width contiguous with the principal structure and provided the rear setback is not 

less than 25’.  The Board unanimously voted to recommended approval of Ordinance 26-03, a 

Text Amendment to 156.051 at its December 12, 2025 public meeting. 

 

The draft Ordinance presented to the Board specifically stated these changes are reasonable and 

consistent with the intent and recommendations of the Town’s adopted Comprehensive & Land 

Use Plan. 

 

 

 

Sincerely,  

 

/s/ 

 

Bob Wetzel, Chairman 

Town of Duck Planning Board 

001



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Zoning Text: Subsection 156.051 

 

Agenda Item 6C 

 

1 

 

 

TO:  Mayor Thibodeau Members of the Town of Duck Council 

FROM: Sandy Cross, Planning and Permits Manager 

DATE: January 27, 2026 

RE:  Ordinance 26-03 

Text Amendment to Zoning Ordinance §156.051  

Building Features Exempt from Setback or Minimum Yard Requirements  

 

Background Information 

At its November 5, 2025 meeting the Town Council authorized Staff to bring a zoning text 

amendment to the Planning Board for a narrowly constructed amendment allowing outdoor 

showers as exempt from setbacks or minimum yard requirements.  

 

At its public meeting on December 12, 2025, the Duck Planning Board voted (5-0) to recommend 

approval of Ordinance 26-03 which proposes to amend Subsection 156.051 Building Features 

Exempt from Setbacks of Minimum Yard Requirements, adding an allowance for outdoor showers 

to encroach up to a maximum of 3 feet into the rear setback, provided the outdoor shower is 

attached to the principal structure, is not fully enclosed, includes functioning plumbing with a 

shower head, is no longer than 8 feet in width contiguous with the principal structure and provided 

the rear setback is not less than 25’. 

 

Consistency w/ Land Use Plan 

The Town of Duck’s adopted CAMA Land Use Plan does not contain recommendations relating 

to the specific amendment being proposed but contains the following goal, policies, and objectives 

that address general residential development intensity and character (which could be interpreted 

to include outdoor accessory features such as showers): 

 

Land Use Compatibility Management Goal:  

Ensure that development and use of resources or preservation of land balance protection of natural 

resources and fragile areas with economic development, and avoids risks to public health, safety, 

and welfare. 

 

Policy 4: Guide the character, location, and type of development and activity in town to 

reinforce the “Duck Experience”.  

4.2: Ensure that development of land minimizes negative direct and secondary 

environmental impacts, avoids risks to public health, safety, and welfare and is consistent with the 

carrying capacity of the land. 

 

Policy 5: Protect and preserve Duck’s coastal residential character. 

5.1: Closely protect the character of existing single family neighborhoods as well as multi-

family enclaves through the adoption and enforcement of appropriate development standards.  

002



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Zoning Text: Subsection 156.051 

 

Agenda Item 6C 

 

2 

 

 

 

Duck 2032 Vision 

The adopted 2032 Vision for the Town of Duck contains many general aspirations for the future 

of our community.  The following guiding principles relate to the rationale and importance of 

reviewing and amending our lot coverage definition.  

 

Duck and Our Village  

Our residential neighborhoods and Duck Village connect to form the fabric of our community.  

Our collection of small shops, restaurants, offices, parks and boardwalks combine to shape the 

Duck experience.  The development of the Village has a coastal residential style and scale and its 

continuity creates an energetic and walkable experience.  Our quality of life is enhanced through 

innovative solutions that protect and preserve the Village's unique character and environment. 

 

 

Planning Board Recommendation 

The Planning Board members voted 5-0 to recommend APPROVAL of proposed text amendment, 

Ordinance 26-03 at their public meeting on November 12, 2025, finding the ordinance amendment 

in the public interest by offering property owners reasonable options and that the suggested 

changes were consistent with the intent of the Town’s Comprehensive and Land Use Plan and 

2032 Vision.  

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

 

1. Planning Board Transmittal Letter 

2. Draft Ordinance 26-03 

003



 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING §156.051 BUILDING FEATURES EXEMPT FROM 

SETBACKS OR MINIMUM YARD REQUIREMENTS IN THE ZONING ORDINANCE 

OF THE TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA 

 

Ordinance 26-03 

 

  WHEREAS, the Duck Town Council and Planning Board have concluded that the 

proposed text amendments will provide benefit to the community with clear, and consistent 

standards for development; and  

 

  WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that this amendment is in the public 

interest by offering property owners reasonable options.  

 

  WHEREAS, the Duck Town Council and Planning Board have found that these changes 

are reasonable and consistent with the intent and recommendations of the Town’s adopted CAMA 

Core Land Use Plan. 

 

  NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council for the Town of Duck, 

North Carolina that the following sections of the Zoning Ordinance shall be amended as stated: 

 

PART I.   The following sections of the Zoning Ordinance shall be amended as stated: 

 

The standards in §156.051 shall be amended to read as follows:  

 

    Building features that may be exempt from minimum yard requirements, setbacks or building 

restriction lines are described as follows: 

   (A)   Sills, cornices and similar ornamental features as well as roof eaves and overhangs may 

project not exceeding 12 inches into any required front, side or rear yard or beyond any required 

front, side or rear setback or building restriction line; 

   (B)   Bay windows, stoops, covered entryways, stairs and similar features of a principal 

structure may project not exceeding 3 feet into any required front yard or beyond any required 

front setback or building restriction line (plus an additional 12 inches for features as noted in this 

section); and 

 (C)   Outdoor shower enclosures with functional plumbing and a showerhead that are not fully 

enclosed and attached to a principal structure, with or without a roof covering, may project not 

exceeding 3 feet into any required rear yard or beyond any required rear setback or building 

restriction line (plus an additional 12 inches for features as noted in section (A)) provided that the 

length contiguous with the principal structure is no longer than 8 feet and the rear setback or 

building restriction line is not less than 25 feet; and 

   (D)   No ornamental feature, bay window, stoop, stairs, eave, overhang or similar feature of an 

accessory structure shall project into any required front, rear or side setback or building restriction 

lines applicable to accessory structures; 

004



 

 

   (E)   Community ocean and sound access walkway structures located within common property 

designated as such at the time of subdivision plat recordation, within an easement granted to a 

subdivision or community association for the purposes of providing community access to the ocean 

or sound, or within the right-of-way of a private street, are exempt from the minimum yard 

requirements of this chapter as well as the applicable provisions of § 156.128(A)(2). Dune 

walkover structures subject to this exemption must still comply with all applicable standards found 

in § 156.124(C)(1); 

   (F)   Private walkway structures less than 4 feet in width that directly connect to walkway 

structures listed in division (D) above are exempt from the minimum yard requirements of this 

chapter as well as the applicable provisions of § 156.128(A)(2). This exemption shall also apply 

to private walkway structures constructed for the purpose of providing ocean or sound access that 

are shared between 2 adjoining property owners. Dune walkover structures subject to this 

exemption must still comply with all applicable standards found in § 156.124(C)(1); 

   (G)   Private walkway structures less than 4 feet in width constructed less than 12 inches above 

grade are exempt from the minimum yard requirements of this chapter as well as the applicable 

provisions of § 156.128(A)(2). Dune walkover structures and sound access walkways are not 

exempt from minimum yard requirements unless in compliance with the standards of § 156.051(E). 

Walkway structures are not exempt from minimum yard requirements if the walkway abuts a 

swimming pool deck or is located within 3 feet of a swimming pool; and 

   (H)   Municipally owned walkways, boardwalks, multi-use paths and sidewalks are exempt 

from the minimum yard requirements of this chapter as well as the applicable provisions of § 

156.128(A)(2). 

PART II.   This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption. 

 

 

 

 

        ______________________ 

        Monica Thibodeau, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Lori Ackerman, Town Clerk 

 

Date adopted:  ___________________ 

 

Motion to adopt by: ____________________ 

 

Vote:           AYES          NAYS 

005



AGENDA: February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #7D: 
 

Legislative Public Hearings 

 

D. Public Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 26-04, an 

Ordinance Amending the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, 

Subsection 156.002 Definitions and Specifically to Correct and Clarify 

the Definition of Lot Coverage  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Conduct the Public Hearing 

• Discuss & Consider Approval of Ordinance 26-04 

 
 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

At its public meeting on December 12, 2025, the Duck Planning Board voted 5-0 to 

recommend approval of Ordinance 26-04 which proposes to amend Subsection 156.002 

Definitions specific to Lot Coverage further clarifying that any alternative ground cover 

that is afforded reduced or no lot coverage consideration shall be subject to documentation 

and recordation of a ground cover agreement stating installation was consistent with the 

manufacturer’s specification and that maintenance will be provided accordingly.   

 

Additionally, pool water is no longer counted in lot coverage; however, the principal 

definition still includes “pools”, so this correction is recommended.   
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Letter of Transmittal to Town Council 

• Staff Report 

• Draft Ordinance 26-04 



 

 

 

 

 

 

December 17, 2025 

 

RE:   Ordinance 26-04 

Text Amendment to Section 156.002 of the Town Zoning Ordinance 

 

Mayor Thibodeau and Duck Town Council Members: 

 

The Duck Town Council approved a text amendment to Subsectin 156.002 Definitions relating to 

lot coverage allowances for pervious surfaces in January 2025.   The 2025 ordinance amendment 

updated and clarified the Town’s standards for the use of pervious materials on single-family 

residential properties consistent with the intent of the Town’s lot coverage standards.  The 2025 

amendment included exemptions for artificial turf and water in swimming pools, a 100% lot 

coverage credit for pervious parking surfaces, and a 40% credit for other types of semi-pervious 

parking surfaces and pervious surfaces used elsewhere on a property.   

 

Since the adoption of the 2025 text amendment, Staff clarified with the Planning Board members 

the purpose and intent of the ground cover agreements was that any alternative ground cover that 

was afforded reduced or no lot coverage consideration should be subject to documentation and 

recordation of a ground cover agreement stating installation was consistent with manufacturer’s 

specification and that maintenance will be provided accordingly.  This is not clearly stated in the 

current iteration of the definition of Lot Coverage as it relates to artificial turf.    

 

Additionally, pool water is no longer counted in lot coverage, however the principal definition still 

includes “pools”, so this correction was needed.   

 

At the November Town Council meeting, Council authorized staff to bring that matter back to 

Planning Board.  The Board unanimously recommended approval of the proposed amendments in 

Ordinance 26-04.     

 

The draft Ordinance presented to the Board specifically stated these changes are reasonable and 

consistent with the intent and recommendations of the Town’s adopted Comprehensive & Land 

Use Plan and 2032 Vision. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

/s/ 

 

Bob Wetzel, Chairman 

Town of Duck Planning Board 

001



Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Zoning Text: Subsection 156.002 

Agenda Item 6D 

1 

TO: Mayor Thibodeau Members of the Town of Duck Council 

FROM: Sandy Cross, Planning and Permits Manager 

DATE: January 27, 2026 

RE: Ordinance 26-04 

Text Amendment to Zoning Ordinance §156.002 Definitions. Lot Coverage 

Background Information 

After working with recent revisions to the definition of Lot coverage, the Community 

Development staff identified two parts of the text that need to be amended for clarity purposes.   

Staff previously discussed with the Planning Board members an issue and clarification regarding 

alternative ground cover agreements as noted in the definition of Lot Coverage.  The Planning 

Board agreed it was their consensus that any alternative ground cover that was afforded reduced 

or no lot coverage consideration should be subject to documentation and recordation of a ground 

cover agreement stating installation was consistent with manufacturer’s specification and that 

maintenance will be provided accordingly.  This is not clearly stated in the current iteration of the 

definition of Lot Coverage.  

Additionally, we no longer count pool water in lot coverage, however the principal definition still 

includes “pools”, so we need to address this inconsistency.   

At the November Town Council meeting, Town Council authorized the Planning Board to revisit 

this section of the zoning ordinance.  This matter was introduced during the December 10, 2025 

Planning Board meeting and the Board unanimously recommended the revisions presented here 

which include the removal of “pools” from lot coverage and clarification that the use of artificial 

turf requires design specifications, a maintenance plan and recordation of a ground 

cover agreement with the Register of Deeds.  

Consistency w/ Land Use Plan 

The Town of Duck’s adopted CAMA Land Use Plan does not contain recommendations relating 

to the specific amendment being proposed but contains the following goal, policies, and objectives 

that address general residential development intensity and character (which could be interpreted 

to include lot coverage and stormwater management): 

Land Use Compatibility Management Goal: 

Ensure that development and use of resources or preservation of land balance protection of natural 

resources and fragile areas with economic development, and avoids risks to public health, safety, 

and welfare. 

002



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Zoning Text: Subsection 156.002 

 

Agenda Item 6D 

 

2 

 

Policy 4: Guide the character, location, and type of development and activity in town to 

reinforce the “Duck Experience”.  

4.2: Ensure that development of land minimizes negative direct and secondary 

environmental impacts, avoids risks to public health, safety, and welfare and is consistent with the 

carrying capacity of the land. 

 

Policy 5: Protect and preserve Duck’s coastal residential character. 

5.1: Closely protect the character of existing single family neighborhoods as well as multi-

family enclaves through the adoption and enforcement of appropriate development standards.  

 

Policy 6: Engage in efforts to improve local flooding and stormwater management.  

6.2: Coordinate with and reduce barriers for residents and outside agencies trying to 

address local flooding and stormwater concerns. 

6.3: Ensure any stormwater or flooding solutions do not negatively impact water quality or 

negatively impact shared resources such as the beach. 

6.4: Reduce runoff through minimizing impervious surface coverage, encouraging tree 

preservation, and accommodating low impact development solutions to stormwater management. 

 

Duck 2032 Vision 

The adopted 2032 Vision for the Town of Duck contains many general aspirations for the future 

of our community.  The following guiding principles relate to the rationale and importance of 

reviewing and amending our lot coverage definition.  

 

Duck and Our Village  

Our residential neighborhoods and Duck Village connect to form the fabric of our community.  

Our collection of small shops, restaurants, offices, parks and boardwalks combine to shape the 

Duck experience.  The development of the Village has a coastal residential style and scale and its 

continuity creates an energetic and walkable experience.  Our quality of life is enhanced through 

innovative solutions that protect and preserve the Village's unique character and environment. 

 

Environmental Stewardship 

There is a conscious respect for Duck’s fragile and extraordinary environment. We protect and 

preserve opportunities for our residents and visitors to enjoy our ocean, sound, and natural coastal 

habitats. We value our pristine, safe, uninterrupted beaches, which are our most valuable asset. 

Our resilience and adaptability, guided by environmental awareness and forward thinking, ensure 

our sustainability as a community. 

 

Planning Board Recommendation 

The Planning Board members voted 5-0 to recommend APPROVAL of proposed text amendment, 

Ordinance 26-04 at their public meeting on November 12, 2025, as the ordinance corrects an error 

and provides clarity applying our Town Code consistent with the intent of the Town’s 

Comprehensive and Land Use Plan and 2032 Vision.  

 

003



  Town of Duck, North Carolina 

Department of Community Development 

Zoning Text: Subsection 156.002 

 

Agenda Item 6D 

 

3 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

 

• Planning Board Transmittal Letter 

• Draft Ordinance 26-04 

004



 

 

AN ORDINANCE CORRECTING AND UPDATING SECTION 156.002 

DEFINTION OF LOT COVERAGE OF THE TOWN CODE FOR 

THE TOWN OF DUCK, NORTH CAROLINA 

 

Ordinance No. 26-04 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Duck Town Council and Planning Board have concluded that 

the proposed text amendment will benefit all parties by providing more accurate, clear, 

and consistent standards for development; and  

WHEREAS, the Duck Town Council and Planning Board have found that these 

changes are reasonable and consistent with the intent and recommendations of the 

Town’s adopted Comprehensive and CAMA Land Use Plan. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Council for the Town of  

Duck, North Carolina that the following section of the Zoning Ordinance shall be 

amended as stated: 

 

PART I.   The standards §156.002 shall be amended by changing the following reference 

to Lot Coverage 

 

§ 156.002 DEFINITIONS.  

LOT COVERAGE. That portion of the lot area, expressed as a percentage, that is 

occupied and obstructed by an improvement or a structure on or above the ground, 

including but not limited to buildings, covered decks, concrete patios, gazebos, concrete, 

asphalt, or similar paved parking areas, concrete, asphalt, or similar paved private 

sidewalks, concrete, asphalt, or similar driveways and roadways, and any accessory use 

or structure requiring location above ground.  

      (5)   Artificial turf installed over an entirely pervious base shall be excluded from the 

calculation of LOT COVERAGE.  It is the responsibility of the property owner to record 

the design specifications, maintenance plan, and certification of the owner's responsibility 

for maintenance at the Dare County Register of Deeds Office and maintain the pervious 

materials consistent with the recorded maintenance plan. 

 

PART II.   This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

005



 

 2 

 

 

        ______________________ 

        Monica Thibodeau, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Lori Ackerman, Town Clerk 

 

Date adopted:  ___________________ 

 

Motion to adopt by: ____________________ 

 

Vote:           AYES          NAYS 

 

006



AGENDA: February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 
 

 

ITEM #8A: 
 

Old Business/Items Deferred from Previous Meetings 

 

A. Discussion/Consideration of Appointing an Individual to Serve on the 

Board of Adjustment 

 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 

• Appoint an individual to serve on the Board of Adjustment ending July 

1, 2028 
 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

With the appointment of Tom Burton to  the Planning Board, it leaves a vacancy on the 

Board of Adjustment for the Alternate position.  Council considered the appointment at 

their January 7, 2026 meeting and voted to table the appointment until this meeting because 

the applicants were not present.  Frank Douglas and Stephen Fowler, who had applied for 

the vacancy, will be present to answer any questions Council may have. 

 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

• Board of Adjustment Roster 

• Frank Douglas Application 

• Stephen Fowler Application 



Updated 12/5/2025 

Town of Duck 

Board of Adjustment 

 
 
Olin Finch      Carol Powell  

Member; term expires 7/1/28     Member; term expires 7/1/28 

116 Sandy Ridge Road     104 Carrol Drive 

Duck, NC  27949      Duck, NC  27949     

cell: (252) 207-4566     cell: (252) 202-7282 

home: (252) 261-8710     home: (252) 262-5722 

email: olinfinch@gmail.com     email: cpowellduck@gmail.com  

 

Miriam Rollin      David Flowers  

Member; term expires 7/1/28    Member; term expires 7/1/28 

149 Plover Drive      118 Poteskeet Drive 

Duck, NC  27949      Duck, NC 27949 

P.O. Box 8197      P.O. Box 20009, Baltimore, MD 21284  

home: (703) 408-6002     home: (410) 296-6832 

email: marollin@icloud.com     cell: (443) 677-1184 

       email: davidflowersret@aol.com  

    

Tim McKeithan      Warren Stembridge 

Member; term expires 7/1/28    Alternate; term expires 7/1/28 

140 Mallard Cour t     106 Beachcomber Court 

Duck, NC  27949      Duck, NC  27949 

home: (252) 261-8805     home: (703) 554-4772 

cell: (757) 672-3045     email: wstem5@gmail.com  

email: timobx68@gmail.com  

        

        

Vacant 

Alternate; term expires 7/1/28 

  

 

 

mailto:olinfinch@gmail.com
mailto:cpowellduck@gmail.com
mailto:marollin@icloud.com
mailto:davidflowersret@aol.com
mailto:wstem5@gmail.com
mailto:timobx68@gmail.com






(Rev. 2/23)            Page 1 

 
APPLICATION FOR BOARDS, COMMITTEES, AND COMMISSIONS 

TOWN OF DUCK 
 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 
 

Date Received 
 

 

Time 

 

 

Contacted by: 

 
 

 

Appointed To 

 

 

Date Appointed 

 

Application Updated: 

 

 

 

Please Complete Each Section (Print or Type) 

 

Name             

 

Home Address           

 

Mailing Address           

 

Business Address           

 

Home Phone     Business Phone     
 

Email                                               
 

 

Boards/Committees/Commissions I am most interested in: 

 

____ Planning Board    

____ Zoning Board of Adjustment 

____ Wall Décor and Artwork Committee 

____ Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee 

____ Other (please list) _____________________________ 

 

Education (Including Years of School Completed): 

              

              

 

Stephen T. Fowler

(Duck) 128 Bayberry Dr.

8216 Hunting Hill Ln, McLean, VA 22102

703-434-2532

stephen.fowler@wilsonelser.com

xx

Juris Doctor law degree - 1999

Bachelor of Arts - 1989



(Rev. 2/23) Page 2 

Current Employer __________________________________________ 

Title/Position Years in Current Position ___________________ 

Brief Description of Duties: 

Other Employment History 

Interests/Skills/Areas of Expertise 

Current Professional Organizations/Civic and/or Activities 

Past Professional Organizations/Civic and/or Activities 

Comments ______ 

Is there any possible conflict of interest or other matter that would create problems or prevent you 

from fairly and impartially discharging your duties as an appointee of the Town Council? 

____No ___ Yes (If yes, please attach an explanation of the possible conflict) 

I certify that the facts contained in this application are true and correct to the best of my knowledge 

and belief.  I understand that this application will be retained in the Office of the Town Clerk for two (2) 

years and must be updated after that time.  If not updated as requested by the Town Manager, the 

application will be removed from the active consideration file. I understand if I am to be considered for a 

position that I will be required to give a presentation to Town Council on my qualifications and why I wish to 

serve.  I further understand that upon submitting this application to the Town of Duck, this application and 

all information on it is considered a public record under North Carolina law.   

Signature 

Date 

RETURN COMPLETED FORM TO: Office of the Town Clerk 

Town of Duck 

Post Office Box 8369 

Duck, NC  27949  

Of Counsel

Wilson, Elser, Moskowitz, Edelman & Dicker, LLP

1

General liability litigator and trial lawyer on the defense of various general liability claims, including premises liability,

professional negligence claims for lawyers, doctors, accountants, etc.

Previously at Greenberg Traurig LLP (10 years); and Reed Smith LLP (11 years) as a products liability and

commercial litigator.

Extensive experience in reviewing regulations and interacting with claimants and clients for negotiations; interpretation of acts

contracts; federal and state regulations.

Virginia Association of Defense Attorneys; American Inns of Court; volunteer for legal services of northern Virginia.

Past Board member and officer for Legal Services of Northern Virginia (8 years)

Past Board member and officer for Lift Me Up! therapeutic horseback riding for disabled children and adults.

Have owned our home in Duck since 2009; we do not rent it; true second home and we treasure the Town of Duck.

xx

/S/ Stephen T. Fowler

December 29, 2025



AGENDA: February 4, 2026  Regular Meeting 
 

 

 

ITEM #15: 
 

Closed Session 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 
• Make the following motion:  

 

o To enter closed session in accordance with Section 143-

318.11(a)(5) of the North Carolina General Statutes to establish or 

to instruct the public body’s staff or negotiating agents concerning 

the position to be taken by or on behalf of the public body in 

negotiating (i) the price or other material terms of a contract or 

proposed contract for the acquisition of real property by purchase, 

option, exchange, or lease. 

 

 

SUMMARY OF INFORMATION: 
 

• None.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 
• Provided under separate cover. 


	agenda2026-02-04
	agenda2026-02-04closed session beginning
	agenda2026-02-04consent agenda
	agenda2026-02-04consent agendaA
	agenda2026-02-04consent agendaB
	agenda2026-02-04special presentationsA
	agenda2026-02-04legislative public hearingsA
	agenda2026-02-04legislative public hearingsA1
	agenda2026-02-04legislative public hearingsB
	agenda2026-02-04legislative public hearingsB1
	agenda2026-02-04legislative public hearingsC
	agenda2026-02-04legislative public hearingsC1
	agenda2026-02-04legislative public hearingsD
	agenda2026-02-04legislative public hearingsD1
	agenda2026-02-04old businessA
	agenda2026-02-04old businessA1
	agenda2026-02-04old businessA2
	agenda2026-02-04old businessA3
	agenda2026-02-04closed session



